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Abstract 

The Society of Jesus, or the Jesuits, established a mission on Newtowne Neck at the 

invitation of William Bretton in 1640, Bretton having patented 750 acres on the Neck earlier that 

year. Religious bigotry and volatile politics in the colony and back in England forced the Jesuits 

to maintain a low profile, especially during the political upheavals of the late 1640s through 

1650s. With the restoration of the Stuarts to the English throne and the reestablishment of Cecil 

Lord Baltimoreôs control over Maryland, public worship of the Roman Catholic faith became 

possible. While the Jesuits planned replacement of their small, inconspicuous frame chapel at St. 

Maryôs City with a substantial Baroque church, William and Temperance Bretton donated 1.5 

acres to the congregation at Newtowne for a chapel and cemetery. Parishioners contributed to the 

construction of the chapel, which occurred in 1662, and the chapel appears to have remained in 

use until 1704 when enactment of the Intolerant Act of 1704 forced its closure. The specific 

location of the chapel was forgotten, although it was part of the parcel that the Brettons donated 

for the cemetery and the cemetery has continued in use to the present. 

Several phases of archaeological investigation uncovered likely evidence of the 1662 

Jesuit Chapel in the cemetery at St. Francis Xavier in Newtown, Maryland. The Grave Concerns 

team mapped the cemetery and excavated series of shovel tests along Newtown Road in 

December 2010. In January of 2011, the team excavated shovel tests at 50 foot intervals across 

the entire site, recovering domestic and architectural artifacts representing two sites at opposite 

ends of the cemetery: a late 18
th
 century site at the northern entrance and a small concentration of 

what appeared to be 17
th
 century artifacts in the southeastern portion of the cemetery. The team, 

including Peter Quantock of the University of Denver, conducted a magnetometer survey in 

August 2011 of that portion of the cemetery in which the early Colonial artifacts and an oyster 

shell deposit were encountered. A ground-penetrating radar survey of the southeastern corner of 

the cemetery was also undertaken because, although shovel testing revealed nothing in that area, 

topography and proximity suggested that it was a likely spot for the chapel. 

Based on the results of the three undertakings, the field team returned to the southeastern 

portion of the cemetery to stratigraphically excavate a series of 5 ft by 5 ft units. The units 

produced: a small number of domestic artifacts clearly dating to the third quarter of the 17
th
 

century; small quantities of brick, burned daub, and nails; and extensive deposit of oyster shell 

and gravel interpreted as a possible pavement; eight graveshafts that were unmarked and later 

than the Colonial occupation; and aboriginal flaked stone, fire-cracked rock, and pottery 

(Rappahannock and Potomac Creek). 

The data unambiguously indicate a Colonial occupation dating to the 1650s and 1660s 

and possibly later. The aboriginal artifacts are Late Woodland (ca. AD 800-1600) and possibly 

Contact period (ca. AD 1600-1700). They are less clear on the point of whether or not this is the 

chapel. No other indications of a 17
th
-century occupation have been found within the confines of 

the 4.5-acre cemetery. 
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Chapter 1. Introduction 

Father Brian Sanderfoot, pastor of St. Francis Xavier in Leonardtown, Maryland, 

authorized several phases of archaeological investigation at St. Francis Xavier Cemetery for 

purposes of mapping the cemetery and its many grave markers and locating the site of the 1662-

1704 Jesuit chapel. The project, as conceived by Fr. Sanderfoot and understood by the authors, 

contributes to the history of St. Francis Xavier on the eve of its 350
th
 anniversary. The story of 

this parish church is one in which local Roman Catholics, initially in the face of religious bigotry 

and political suppression, created and built a community on the banks of the Potomac River. It 

also is a story of the Jesuit fathers and lay brothers who sacrificed much to help the people of 

Newtown Neck and vicinity in this undertaking. The search for, and confirmed identification of, 

the chapel site will aid the community in the discovery of its roots and the celebration of its 

accomplishments. 

This report documents the methods and results of the various phases of field and 

laboratory work. It consists of seven sections: 

1) Introduction 

2) Project Location and Environment 

3) Culture History 

4) Research Design and Methods 

5) Field and Laboratory Results 

6) Summary, Interpretations, and Recommendations 

7) Supporting Documentation 

All of the work described herein was conducted in accordance with the Standards and 

Guidelines for Archeological Investigations in Maryland (Shaffer and Cole 1994), the 

Specifications for Consulting Engineers Services ManualïSection IV (Maryland Department of 

Transportation 1986), and the Consultant Specifications for Archeological Procedures (Maryland 

State Highway Administration 1992). 
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Chapter 2. Project Location and Environment 

Location 

St. Francis Xavier Cemetery is on the narrowest point of the Newtown Neck, a 

south-southwesterly oriented peninsula projecting into the Potomac River and bordered 

by St. Clements Bay to the west and Breton Bay to the east. Leonardtown, the St. Maryôs 

County seat, is at the north end of Breton Bay on the Western Coastal Plain in Maryland 

Archeological Research Unit 10 (Figure 2-1). The cemetery and the early 18
th
-century St. 

Francis Xavier Church and Jesuit manor house can be found on the Leonardtown USGS 

7.5 minute quad (Figure 2-2). The site occupies a low, extensive terrace of the Potomac 

River. 

Environment 

The cemetery is on the north edge of extensive cultivated fields. Forested wetlands border 

its eastern and northern edges. The 4.5-acre parcel is a well-maintained cemetery, the grass 

regularly mowed (Figure 2-3). The southeastern portion of the cemetery, however, is reputed to 

have been overgrown in the late 20
th
 century until it was cleared with machinery and manual 

labor. That clearing event damaged a portion of the cemetery and some of its markers and altered 

the vegetation. It may also have contributed to the deposition of sediment in the unnamed 

tributary stream at the head of Breton Bay. 

Approximately 80% of the cemetery consists of Othello silt loam and, indeed, most of the 

arable on the neck is Othello silt loam or fine sandy loam. Neither soil is well-regarded for 

tobacco or wheat cultivationðthe areaôs major Colonial period cropsðbecause of poor drainage 

and a high water table. Soils on the neck are best suited to soybean and hay crops and pasturage. 

The northern tenth of an acre of the cemetery is Mattapex fine sandy loam and the southeastern 

0.6-acres are Woodstown sandy loam. Both soil types produce high yields of medium quality 

tobacco and good yields of other field crops. 

 
Figure 2-1. Maryland Archeological Research Unit map. 

(Source: Shaffer and Cole 1994) 
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Figure 2-2. USGS 7.5ô Topographic Map, Leonardtown, MD (1985). 

 
Figure 2-3. Aerial photograph of St. Francis Xavier Cemetery. 



 

 9 

In September 2011 the Grave Concerns crew excavated a deep, unscreened shovel test pit 

(J12, E420.34, N326.63) in the broad, shallow drainage that appears on the aerial photograph 

(see Figure 2-3) as a green swath between the cemetery and the cultivated field to the south. The 

object was to examine soil development and the possibility that this feature is natural, artificial, 

or an artificially enhanced natural drainage. The unit exposed a sequence of soils that suggested 

grading and the deposition of new sediments (Figure 2-4). Strata 3 and 4 appear to be parts of a 

Bt horizon subject to poor drainage (the redox clays), a not unexpected occurrence for a drainage 

ditch. Stratum 3a appears to be a filled scour and the overlying deposits likely represent aeolian 

deposition, the neighboring fields serving as the source. There is nothing in the profile that 

allows us to determine how old the ditch is, but machinery likely was used in its creation or 

enhancement. 

 
Figure 2-4. Shovel test J12 profile. 
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Chapter 3. Culture History 

Regional Prehistory 

The prehistory of the Middle Atlantic Coastal Plain province has been extensively 

researched by Custer (1984), Dent (1995), Steponaitis (1978, 1983), Wanser (1982), Wright 

(1973), and many other scholars. The principal prehistoric and historic periods are summarized 

below with regard to their representation in the immediate vicinity of the study area (Table 3ï1). 

A subsequent section details available information on the prehistory of the immediate area. 

PALEOINDIAN  STAGE 

During the latter part of the last glacial period, known as the Wisconsin, ending about 

14,000 BC, most of northern North America was deeply buried beneath thick sheets of ice. The 

vast amounts of water contained in these continental glaciers lowered ocean levels by as much as 

130m. Large expanses of the now submerged continental shelf were exposed with dry land 

extending for many kilometers beyond the present shorelines. The glaciers did not flow as far 

south as present day Maryland, and the Chesapeake Bay of today existed only as the valley 

through which flowed the ancestral Susquehanna River. 

Glacial recession 11,000 years ago (c. 9,000 BC) raised the sea level and inundated the 

ancestral Susquehanna valley. By 9,000 years ago (c. 7,000 BC) the rising waters flooded the 

lower portion of the valley. By 3,000 BC, the valley was flooded as far north as Annapolis, 

Maryland. By 1,000 BC, the Chesapeake Bay and the inundated portion of the Potomac River 

reached their present limits and modern climactic and biotic regimes developed to their present 

state. Oysters and a variety of benthic and pelagic fishes occupied newly created niches in what is 

now one of the richest estuarine environments in the world. Oak and hickory boreal forests 

covered the region, and swamps, marshes, and streams formed in the hinterland and along the 

coasts (Carbone 1976, Lippson 1973, Schubel 1981). 

Native Americans were attracted to the coastal environment by rich aquatic and terrestrial 

resources. Prior to the formation of the Chesapeake Bay (c. 3,000 BC), people occupied a broad 

range of upland and lowland settings, invariably close to a water source. Paleoindian tools, dating 

between 13,000 and 7,500 BC, are rare in Anne Arundel County. Generally, avocational 

collectors and professional archaeologists find them in redeposited contexts, often associated 

with multiïcomponent sites in floodplains (Brown 1979). Gibb (2004) has identified a 

Paleoindian site on a knoll top in southern Prince Georgeôs County, more than three miles west 

of the Patuxent River and 1600 ft from Swansons Creek. Although eroded, the site yielded a 

number of lithic artifacts, mostly of quartz and quartzite, including: a black chert Clovis point; a 

cemented limonite stemmed biface; a quartzite uniface; decortication, primary and tertiary flakes 

(83); and fire-cracked rock (95). The Garrettôs Chance #3 site (18PR704) lies well above and 

distant from the nearest surface water, indicating significant change of the landform and local 

hydrology. The assemblage points to domestic activities beyond mere lithic reduction. 

The Maryland State Highway Administration has excavated a Paleoindian component at 

the deeply stratified Higgins site in Anne Arundel County (Ebright 1989), west-northwest of the 

project area. The site is located along a small drainage that appears to have shifted its course and 

overflowed its banks many times. Waterborne silts and drifting dunes covered the Paleoindian 

component. The Higgins site is exceptional in its preservation of Paleoindian and Early Archaic 

components. 
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Table 3-1. Sequence of prehistoric cultural 

periods 

Paleo-Indian  
Date Range: 13,000-7,500 BC 

Diagnostic Points: Clovis, Hardaway-Dalton 

Diagnostic Vessels: None 

Climate: Gradual post-glacial warming 

Sea level: 70-110 ft below present 

Vegetation: Succession of spruce, then pine 

Fauna: Megafauna, replacement by 

modern fauna 

Early Archaic  
Date Range: 7,500-6,000 BC 

Diagnostic Points: Kirk -Palmer, Warren 

Diagnostic Vessels: None 

Climate: Warming and increased rainfall 

Sea level: 58-70 ft below present 

Vegetation: Pine replaces spruce, oak 

increases; expansion of swamps 

Fauna: Modern species; swamp species 

Middle Archaic  
Date Range: 6,000-4,000 BC 

Diagnostic Points: LeCroy, Stanly, Morrow 

Mountain, Guilford 

Diagnostic Vessels: None 

Climate: Warm and wet, drying 

Sea level: 43-58 ft below present 

Vegetation: Oak-hickory association 

dominates 

Fauna: Modern interior wetland species 

established 

Late Archaic  
Date Range: 4,000-1,000 BC 

Diagnostic Points: Broadspear, Savannah River, 

Brewerton 

Diagnostic Vessels: Steatite 

Climate: Warm & dry, cooling after 2,300 

BC 

Sea level: 13-43 ft below present 

Vegetation: Climax oak-hickory; mature 

estuarine/wetlands communities 

Fauna: Modern terrestrial and marine 

 
 
 
Early Woodland  
Date Range: 1,000-300 BC 

Diagnostic Points: Rossville, Calvert 

Diagnostic Vessels: Accokeek, Marcey Creek, Dames 

Quarter, Selden Island 

Climate: Mild and damp 

Sea level: 7-13 ft below present 

Vegetation: Modern, stable 

Fauna: Modern, stable 

Middle Woodland  
Date Range: 300 BC-AD 900 

Diagnostic Points: Selby Bay, Jack's Reef 

Diagnostic Vessels: Popes Creek, Mockley, Wolfe 

Neck, Hell Island 

Climate: Modern, stable 

Sea level: 3-7 ft below present 

Vegetation: Modern, stable 

Fauna: Modern, stable 

Late Woodland  
Date Range: AD 900-Contact 

Diagnostic Points: Jack's Reef, Triangles 

Diagnostic Vessels: Page, Keyser, Shepard, Potomac 

Creek, Moyoane, Riggins 

Climate: Modern, stable 

Sea level: 1-3 ft below present 

Vegetation: Modern, stable 

Fauna: Modern, stable 

Contact  
Date Range: 16th-mid 18thC 

Diagnostic Points: Triangles, some European 

materials 

Diagnostic Vessels: Potomac Creek, iron 

Climate: Modern, stable 

Sea level: 1-2 ft below present 

Vegetation: Modern, stable 

Fauna: Modern, stable 
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ARCHAIC STAGE 

Archaeologists generally defined the Archaic Stage as a period of cultural diversification, 

represented by more varied projectile point styles and more varied adaptations to the 

environment than characterize the preceding stage. 

Early/Middle Archaic 

There are no Early or Middle Archaic period sites (7,500 to 6,000 BC and 6,000 to 4,000 

BC) recorded within the immediate vicinity of the project area, although there are sites of this 

period in Maryland. Some researchers feel that the coastal locations favored by Early and Middle 

Archaic peoples were abandoned in favor of Piedmont locations (Kavanagh 1982:50), but this 

may be based on the lack of study of sites submerged by rising sea levels. 

A more likely scenario is that Early and Middle Archaic peoples, like the Paleoindian 

peoples before them, occupied what are now upland areas around streams and marshes, settings 

now altered by inundation of the ancestral Susquehanna River and stream down cutting in 

response to isostatic rebound. Many of these upland areas have been eroded as a result of 

deforestation and poor farming practices. 

Another difficulty in identifying these early sites are projectile point typologies of 

uncertain accuracy and consistency, combined with the likelihood that point styles and settlement 

and subsistence patterns did not change synchronously. The plethora of Late Archaic projectile 

point types, for example, may have existed in earlier periods; hence Early and Middle Archaic 

sites may be misidentified as those of Late Archaic vintage. 

Late Archaic 

By the Late Archaic period (4,000 to 1,000 BC), the forests around the Chesapeake Bay 

were primarily deciduous. The rich plant and animal life provided a wide array of foods and raw 

materials. Expanding Late Archaic communities took advantage of this great abundance, as 

evidenced by increases in both the number and size of Late Archaic sites over those of previous 

periods. Late Archaic peoples could have exploited the freshes of the Susquehanna, Potomac, 

and Patuxent rivers, as well as the shallow waters and spreading estuaries of the bay, for crabs, 

oysters, and anadromous fishes. At the end of the period the deciduous forests were widespread 

and less diverse, thereby decreasing the heterogeneity and richness of terrestrial resources. With 

the encroachment of brackish water into inland bays and waterways, and the stabilization of sea 

level during this period, the estuarine species such as shellfish became better established, and 

more importantly, accessible to human occupants of the area. The dominance of deciduous 

forests and the stabilization of sea level may have caused a shift from interior wetlands to 

riverine and estuarine environments. Estuaries provided numerous locations for habitation where 

resources were close, plentiful, and diverse. It was during the Late Archaic that local Native 

American groups developed more complex technologies (e.g., canoes, fish weirs, and nets), and 

adopted more sedentary lifestyles in large, more or less permanent, base camps along the Bay and 

its major tributaries, with associated seasonal camps and resource collecting sites in the interior. 

The expanding waters of the Chesapeake Bay and its tributary rivers, creeks, marshes, 

and swamps provided an extensive network for travel and communication. Overland travel 

became more difficult as the shoreline became deeply etched by downïcutting interior streams 

and inundated tidal creeks. The waterways served as both transportation corridor and as a source 

of food. Exotic materials on Late Archaic period sites, such as rhyolite from the Blue Ridge 
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Province of Maryland, Pennsylvania, and Virginia, argillite from the lower Hudson Valley and 

southeastern Pennsylvania, and steatite from Marylandôs piedmont, indicate extensive trade 

networks and/or travel. 

WOODLAND STAGE 

Archaeologists divide the Woodland Stage (c. 200 BC to AD 1600) into three periods: 

Early, Middle, and Late. Each period is characterized by distinctive settlement and subsistence 

patterns and ceramic styles. While Late Archaic peoples may have experimented with pottery 

making, it is the widespread appearance of ceramics that marks the onset of the Woodland Stage. 

Early Woodland 

The Early Woodland period in the Middle Atlantic Region, between 1,000 BC and 400 

BC, is characterized by a continuation of many of the cultural traditions and subsistence and 

settlement patterns established in the Late Archaic. There was a pronounced decline in trade and 

exchange networks with fewer exotic materials being found on sites of this period relative to 

those of earlier periods, although Ohio cherts appear on Early and Middle Woodland sites in the 

region. Shellfish, migratory waterfowl, anadromous fish, and other marine and estuarine species 

were procured from the waters of the Bay, and faunal remains found at sites indicate a high 

reliance on woodland animals. The present vegetation patterns of the region, with tulip poplar 

and sweet gum in the lowlands, and oak, hickory, chestnut, and pine found in the uplands, were 

established by this time. Early Woodland peoples made extensive use of these resources. 

Underground storage facilities, grinding tools, and faunal remains often are found on Early 

Woodland sites (Gardner 1982). 

The Early Woodland period is divided in the Maryland Coastal Plain into two phases: 

Marcey Creek (1,000ï750 BC) and Accokeek (750ï400 BC). They are defined largely on the 

basis of pottery styles. Marcey Creek ceramics are molded (as opposed to coiled) and they are 

tempered with crushed steatite. Pot forms imitate steatite vessel forms of the terminal Late 

Archaic. They are undecorated and usually lack lug handles. Examples of Marcey Creek ceramics 

are found on sites throughout the Delaware and Susquehanna River valleys and in the Coastal 

Plain and Piedmont provinces of Maryland and Virginia, with some occurring in New York 

State. Selden Island wares also are found in association with Marcey Creek ceramics. They have 

thinner walls, steatite tempering, and cord marking on exterior surfaces. Projectile points of this 

phase are the Holmes/Bare Island, Claggett, Dry Brook, and Orient Fishtail points, all of which 

made their first appearance in the terminal Late Archaic. 

The Accokeek phase is named for a pottery type identified at the Accokeek site in Prince 

George County (Stephenson, et al. 1963), about 15 miles (9.3 km) northwest of Hughesville. 

Accokeek vessels are small conical vessels, tempered with sand or crushed quartz, with cord 

marked exterior surfaces and, often, smoothed rims. Accokeek ceramics are found in association 

with Calvert projectile points. 

Wright (1973) and Custer (1984) postulate a continuation of Late Archaic settlement and 

subsistence patterns into the Early Woodland. Local populations formed macrobands and 

occupied semiïsedentary base camps during certain seasons. At other times of the year, they split 

into microbands and occupied shortïterm task specific and seasonal camps. With the 

development of food preservation techniques, such as underground storage, larger populations 

could be supported in smaller areas. Food storage reduced the need for seasonal migration. It also 

required a degree of sedentism in order to maintain access to, and control over, stored foods. 
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Population growth probably occurred at this time. Base camps appear in the Chesapeake Bay 

along the major river drainages, and several extensive surveys, conducted along the Wicomico, 

Severn, South, and Patuxent rivers, have identified numerous Early Woodland sites. In his survey 

of the Severn River, Wright (1968, 1969) identified eight sites with Marcey Creek components. 

Steponaitis (1978) found three Marcey Creek components along the South River, and ten within 

the Patuxent River drainage (1980, 1983). Both Wright and Steponaitis found the majority of the 

Marcey Creek sites in the upper reaches of the rivers, with a few sites next to estuaries. All of 

these sites are shell middens. Wanser (1982) documented 28 assemblages from Early Woodland 

components along the WicomicoïAllenôs FreshïZekiah Swamp drainage, 21 one which are 

situated in interior wetlands settings. This pattern indicates a riverine orientation for Early 

Woodland sites, especially those of the Marcey Creek phase. 

The Accokeek phase sites represent a shift from the established Late ArchaicïMarcey 

Creek period sites. Steponaitis identifies three trends: 

 a greater number of Accokeek sites than Marcey Creek, suggesting population growth; 

 an increase in the amount of artifacts found on Accokeek sites, indicating longer occupations, 

and; 

 an increase in oyster use, and exploitation of a broad range of terrestrial and aquatic 

resources. Intensive gathering in rich ecozones supported a shift toward increased sedentism 

and population growth. 

A shift in trade networks also is seen with the acquisition of exotic materials and tools: 

chert from New York, Canada, Indiana, Ohio, and Tennessee; copper from the Great Lakes 

region; and Adena or Adenaïlike goods similar to those found in Ohio. The latter examples are 

found almost exclusively at mortuary sites, indicating a complex Adenaïlike mortuary practice. 

The West River site in southern Anne Arundel County is the closest identified manifestation of 

Adena to the study area (Ford 1976). 

Middle Woodland 

Subsistence and settlement pattern changes distinguish the Middle Woodland period in 

the Middle Atlantic region from earlier periods. The Middle Woodland is divided into two 

phases: Popes Creek (400 BCïA.D.200) and Selby Bay (A.D.200ï800), each characterized by 

distinctive ceramics and projectile point types. 

Popes Creek Net Impressed ceramics have a medium to coarse sand temper comprising 

50% to 70% of the paste. The vessels are coil constructed, in the form of wideïmouthed jars, 

with conical or semiïconical bases. Interiors are scraped and exterior finishes are net impressed. 

Rims are decorated with incised horizontal lines, often with finger smoothed and incised chevron 

patterns. Popes Creek ceramics rarely are cord marked. Wright (1973) identified a local variant 

that he has named Smallwood ware, but the only significant difference is the presence of some 

shell and quartz tempering in a sandy paste. Rossville projectile points occur in deposits with 

Popes Creek ceramics. They occur on sites from southern New England to the Chesapeake Bay. 

The Popes Creek tool assemblage also includes bone awls, knives, grinding stones, mortars, axes, 

choppers, and hammer stones of local lithic material. 

The Selby Bay phase follows the Popes Creek phase, and is represented by Mockley 

Cordïmarked and Net Impressed pottery, and exotic lithic materials. Mockley ceramics are 

tempered with coarse crushed shell, comprising about 20% to 30% of the paste. The vessels are 

coil constructed, medium to large in size, with rounded or semiïconical bases. Vessels from the 
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beginning of the period are predominantly cordïmarked. Cord marking appears to have been 

gradually supplanted by net impressed treatments, both plain and crumpled. Vessel rims often are 

undecorated with some vessels having their exterior surfaces smoothed just below the rim. The 

smoothed necks commonly are decorated with incised crossïhatching, diamonds, chevrons, or 

parallel lines, with occasional punctates. Mockley pottery is found on sites from the western 

coastal plain of Virginia to the Delaware River. On Marylandôs Western Shore they occur in 

association with Selby Bay bifacesðmade from nonïlocal rhyolite, argillite, and jasperðand 

elliptical twoïholed gorgets, hematite squares, grinding stones, bifacially retouched flakes, and 

worked bone. Gardner, et al. (1989), also recovered several Piscataway points from a pit at 

18CV272 in association with Mockley sherds. The chronological placement of Piscataway 

points, however, is still a point of contention among scholars in the region (e.g., Ebright 

1992:38). 

The Popes Creek phase may represent local development, with an intensification of the 

subsistence patterns established during the Accokeek phase of the Early Woodland. Large semiï

permanent macroband sites were located along the upper portions of major river drainages, with 

associated satellite procurement stations located in strategic spots near the base campsites. 

There is some discontinuity between the lithic assemblages of the Popes Creek and Selby 

Bay phases. Popes Creek tools generally were made from locally available quartz and quartzite. 

Selby Bay phase lithic assemblages are entirely different, dominated as they are by exotic 

materials: rhyolite from the Blue Ridge Province of Maryland and Pennsylvania, argillite from 

the northeast, and cherts from New York and Ohio. Luckenbach, et al. (1987), suggest that there 

was a greater affinity of Selby Bay phase peoples with populations to the north, if not migration 

into the Maryland Coastal Plain Province from the north. Custer (1986) hypothesized that this 

settlement pattern reorganization may have culminated in the establishment of small chiefdoms 

by the Late Woodland period. Gibb and Hines (1997) suggest intensive use of particular aquatic 

resources, specifically oysters, to the near exclusion of other aquatic and terrestrial resources at 

the Smithsonian Pier site (18AN284) on the Rhode River. Because of the seasonal nature of their 

use of this resource, and the relative lack of competing species (e.g., drumfish, boring sponges), 

Middle Woodland visitors to the Smithsonian Pier site appear not to have affected the local 

oyster populationôs ability to reproduce. Neither the Smithsonian Pier site nor the Luce Creek site 

(18AN143) on the Severn River yielded definitive evidence of horticulture, although Ballweber 

(1994a) found ample evidence of hickory nut processing at Luce Creek. 

Late Woodland 

The first true signs of horticulture in the Middle Atlantic region mark the beginning of the 

Late Woodland Period (c. AD 800). The period ends with sustained European contact in the 17th 

century (after A.D.1600). Horticulture was widely and rapidly adopted throughout the 

northeastern United States at this time and may have been introduced by cultures to the west of 

the Chesapeake Bay region. The environment remained essentially the same and local peoples 

continued gathering plants, hunting, fishing, and oystering. At the time of European contact, 

aborigines relied less on estuarine resources than did their immediate precursors. Horticultural 

villages on floodplains were the primary occupation sites of the native inhabitants. 

Archaeologists divide the Late Woodland into two phases: Little Round Bay (AD 800ï

1250) and Sullivans Cove (AD 1250ïc.1600). 

Little Round Bay Phase ceramics include incised and fabric impressed wares of the 

Rappahannock series. Both are shellïtempered. The vessels are coil constructed, with smooth 
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interiors and rough exteriors. They tend to be more thinly potted, and the temper is smaller, than 

the earlier Selby Bay vessels. Rappahannock ceramics are wideïmouthed jars with rounded or 

semiïconoidal bases. 

Griffith (1980) defined eight varieties of Rappahannock Incised pottery, based on 

decorative treatment. Motifs include horizontal bands, zigzags, and squares or triangles, 

occasionally filled in with incised lines. Generally, the more complex geometric forms occurred 

during the period between AD 900 and AD 1300. Fabric impressions on Rappahannock wares 

typically are clear and not overïstamped. Some vessels have pseudoïcord impression patterns at 

the rim. Projectile points associated with the Rappahannock ceramic types include Jacks Reef 

pointsðfound throughout Maryland, Delaware, Virginia, Pennsylvania, New York, Ohio, 

Michigan, and Ontarioðand Levanna pointsðfound throughout Maryland, Virginia, Delaware, 

Pennsylvania, New Jersey, New York, Ontario, and into New England. Other Late Woodland 

artifacts include bone awls, obtuse angle pipes, grinding stones, and pitted stones. 

Sullivans Cove pottery is thinly potted with light crushed shell tempering. Vessels have 

conical bases and constricted necks. Body sherds are partially cordïmarked and smoothed. Rim 

exteriors are decorated with cord wrapped stick impressions, and horizontal lines and 

herringbone patterns. Rappahannock Incised ceramics with less complex motifs also are found 

with Sullivans Cove pottery, as is the Rappahannock Herringbone motif. The small triangular 

Madison projectile point, found throughout the northeastern United States, typically is the only 

projectile point found on Sullivans Cove phase sites. The small size of the Madison point 

indicates that Late Woodland peoples replaced the throwing spear, which required a larger and 

heavier point, with the bow and arrow.1 Sullivans Cove assemblages also include: grinding 

stones, convexïedged end scrapers, knives, and other stone tools. It was during the Sullivans 

Cove period that horticulture seems to have led to a shift to village life in locations away from 

the shores of the Chesapeake. 

Custer (1984) suggests that vast changes occurred in the settlement and subsistence 

patterns of the Late Woodland. Prior to A.D.1000, settlement and subsistence patterns centered 

around intensive gathering and hunting with some use of cultigens. Groups followed seasonal 

rounds, moving from base camp to base camp, with occasional forays to task specific sites to 

procure shellfish, waterfowl, and other resources. Wright (1973) suggests that the Little Round 

Bay Phase occupations centered on base camps at the estuarine/transition zones, with frequent 

use of numerous nearby procurement camps. Wright interpreted the Obrecht site, near the head of 

the Severn River, as a base camp for the Purcell site on the Magothy River and the Oakridge site 

on the Patapsco River. The two smaller sites served as resource procurement sites. Obrecht, a 

large oyster shell midden measuring 180m in length, produced materials from the Middle 

Woodland and Late Woodland periods. Wright interprets the broad array of faunal remains and 

cooking features at the Obrecht site as evidence of a large macroband base camp. The Purcell site 

is an oyster shell midden site, measuring at least 25m in length, with a similar broad array of 

faunal remains. Wright suggests that it is a microband base camp, probably occupied in the fall. 

The Elkridge site is a very large site on the estuarine portion of the Patapsco River, at the 

confluence of three major tributaries. It is well placed for the exploitation of spring runs of 

spawning fish. Development has destroyed a number of smaller shell sites near Elkridge that 

                                                 
1 See Nassaney and Pyle (1999) on the morphological distinction between dart and arrow points. 
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could have served as microband procurement sites. Procurement sites were selected for their ease 

of access to seasonally available oyster, waterfowl, or fish, or nuts. 

Increased reliance on cultigens lessened the need for satellite camps, and this shift is 

reflected in the archaeological record. The functions of base camps changed as they became 

village sites devoted to the production, storage, and protection of food. The need for cropland 

also required a shift away from coastal areas to fertile floodplains. Horticulture in the Bay region 

became important around AD 1000, during the Sullivans Cove Phase. Smaller villages and 

isolated household sites, or clusters, surrounded larger settlements. Sullivans Cove phase peoples 

still used sites previously used for oystering, waterfowling, fishing, and hunting, but not as 

intensively. 

Regional and County History 

Historic settlement patterning in the Chesapeake Tidewater region has been examined by 

Pogue (1984), Smolek (1984), Lukezic (1990), and, more recently, by Gibb (1996). Concerned with 

17th and 18thïcentury EuroïAmerican settlement along the bay and its tributaries, these studies all 

note a preference for sites along major navigable rivers near potable water and soils suited to 

tobacco and wheat cultivation, with little aggregation and avoidance of upland areas. Gibbôs 

analysis aimed at documenting and interpreting variability and offered a statistical technique for 

identifying sites that may have functioned differently than those tobacco plantations along the 

navigable waterways. Settlement patterning in Marylandôs Tidewater region for the 19th and 20th 

centuries has not been studied and the comments below pertaining to these later settlements are 

based on preliminary research. 

COLONIAL PERIOD 

Land grants from the Lords Baltimore, proprietors of the Maryland colony, varied greatly 

in size. Tracts listed in the various rent rolls range from a few acres to thousands of acres, with 

around seventy percent of the patents granted for parcels between 50 and 249 acres (123.5 to 

615.3 ha) (Wykoff 1937; Gibb 1996). Most 17thïcentury archeological sites occur within a few 

hundred feet of navigable water and near soils suitable for producing tobacco in large quantities, 

if not high quality; but a few have been found a mile or more inland, surrounded by soils illï

suited to tobacco culture. Tenants occupied all tracts, only the Lord Proprietor actually owning 

the land. Failure to pay the nominal semiannual rents and swear fealty to Lord Baltimore could 

lead to escheatment of the land and everything on it to Lord Baltimore. Tobacco was the 

principal cash crop, except where wheat dominated in portions of St. Maryôs County and the 

lower Eastern Shore, with maize, cattle, and swine raised for home consumption, ship 

provisioning, and limited coastal trade. 

POSTïCOLONIAL PATTERNS 

As the colonists patented all of the prime lands along the coast, they began to move 

inland. By the middle of the 18th century, the interior of Southern Maryland was thoroughly 

colonized and a nascent road system developed. The Lords Baltimore had begun to alienate land, 

selling it in fee simple and abolishing quit rents. Farm tenancy increasingly became the means by 

which rural families gained access to farmland from large, wealthy landowners. Stiverson (1977) 

and Marks (1979) have examined patterns of farm tenancy for the 18th and early 19th centuries, 

respectively, but this author is unaware of any historical studies of late 19th and early 20thï

century tenancy in Southern Maryland. 
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Gibbôs (1991) analysis of late 19thïcentury agricultural schedules from the federal 

censuses for the Allenôs Fresh District of Charles County, based on a 30 percent (n=61) 

systematic sample of the 1880 entries, indicates a 33 percent farm tenancy rate with 16.5 percent 

renting and 16.5 percent farming on shares. Farm size in that district decreased dramatically 

during the last half of the century with median values for improved acreage of 178 (440 ha) and 

60 (148 ha) for 1850 and 1880, respectively. Yields of the principal cash cropsïïtobacco, maize, 

and wheatïïplummeted by 17, 60, and 40 percent, respectively. Tobacco, clearly, remained the 

most important crop. 

Whether or not agriculture followed a similar course in the Leonardtown District remains 

uncertain: the intensive sampling and analysis of late 19thïcentury agricultural census data 

simply hasnôt been undertaken. 

While not especially industrial, St. Maryôs County had craftsmen, sedentary and itinerant, 

providing some goods and services for businesses and residents (Marks 1979). For example, the 

Trustees of Charlotte Hall Academy, just south of Hughesville, contracted Richard Carnes in 

1783 to make 250,000 bricks and lime for mortar with which to build their first school building 

(Gibb 1990; 1989: 5). They contracted with a man named Kirkley or Kirkby in 1857 to burn 

150,000 to 250,000 bricks for a new classroom building and the Building Committee reported at 

the end of July of that year a kiln of 65,000 bricks ready for firing. They discovered the following 

year that the bricks were of inferior quality and the contractors were required to effect repairs 

(Gibb 1989:6ï7). 

Barse et al (1999) uncovered the remains of a brick clamp in their Phase I investigation of 

the Hughesville bypass corridor, the Homeland Brick Clamp site (18CH664), tested more 

extensively by Balicki et al (2000). This small (14 by 10 ft) clamp appears to have been used 

only once and the investigators found no evidence of additional clamps. Balicki et al (2000) did 

recover a molded ogee brick, suggesting bricks made for a building (possibly as replacements for 

existing fabric) and mapped two large and one medium sized borrow pit, four spoil piles, and six 

small borrow or mixing pits. Brickyards are notoriously difficult to date, lacking much of the 

domestic refuse that archaeologists rely on for dating sites, and the Homeland Brick Clamp, 

apparently unassociated with any domestic or nonïdomestic buildings, remains an enigma. 

St. Francis Xavier 

The Society of Jesus, or the Jesuits, established a foothold in Maryland upon the colonyôs 

founding in 1634. They built a chapel at St. Maryôs City as early as 1635 and had acquired three 

large estates over the following several decades: St. Inigoeôs Manor, southeast of St. Maryôs City; 

St. Thomas Manor (St. Ignatius Church) in central Charles County near the confluence of Port 

Tobacco Creek and the Potomac River; and Newtowne Manor near the head of Breton and St. 

Clementôs bays of the Potomac River. If Father Fitzherbert built a chapel at Newtown sometime 

between 1654 and 1661, no evidence to that effect has surfaced. Indeed, Himmelheber (2001) has 

made a convincing argument for the original chapel having been constructed on Medley Neck, 

the peninsula downstream from Newtowne Neck by Jesuit father Lawrence Starkey between 

1649 and 1654 (when he was in the colony). Supporting plat reconstructions and an 

archaeological survey at the likely location for the one-acre tract should confirm Himmelheberôs 

hypothesis. 

The Jesuits established a mission on Newtowne Neck, possibly at the invitation of 

William Bretton in 1640. Bretton patented 750 acres on the Neck earlier that year. Religious 

bigotry and volatile politics in the colony and back in England forced the Jesuits to maintain a 
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low profile, especially during the political upheavals of the late 1640s through 1650s. With the 

restoration of the Stuarts to the English throne and the reestablishment of Cecil, Lord Baltimoreôs 

control over Maryland, public worship of the Roman Catholic faith became possible. While the 

Jesuits planned replacement of their small, inconspicuous frame chapel at St. Maryôs City with a 

substantial Baroque church (ca. 1667), William and Temperance Bretton donated 1.5 acres to the 

congregation at Newtowne for a chapel and cemetery (1661): 

Provincial Court Proceedings, 1661. 531 

This day came M
r
 William Bretton and desired the ensueing to be recorded (vizt), Ad perpetuam 

rei memoriam 

Forasmuch as divers good and Zealous Roman Catholick Inhabitants of New Towne and S
t
 

Clements Bay have unanimously agreed amongst themselves to erect and build a Church or 

Chappell whether they may repair on Sundays and other Holy days appointed and Corhanded by 

holy Church to serve Almighty God and hear divine Service, And the most Convenient place for 

that purpose desired and pitched upon by them all, is on a certain parcel of the Land belonging to 

William Bretton, Gentleman, Now Know ye that I William Bretton of Little Bretton in the County 

of S
t
 Maryôs in the Province of Maryland gent, with the hearty good liking of my dearly beloved 

wife Temperance Bretton, To the greater hono
r
 and Glory of Almighty God the euer immaculat 

Virgin Mary and all Saints have given and doe hereby freely & forever give to the behoove of the 

said Roman Catholick Inhabitants and their Posterity or Successors Roman Catholicks so much 

land as they shall build the said Church or Chappell on which for their better Convenience they 

may frequent to serve Almighty God and hear divine Service as aforesaid with such other land 

adjoining to the said Church or Chappel convenient, Likewise for a Church yard wherein to bury 

their dead Containing about one acre and half of Ground Situate and lying on a devident of land 

called Brettonôs Outlet, and on the East side of the said devident near to the head of a Creek called 

S
t
 Williams Creek which falleth into S

t
 Nicholas Creek and near unto the narrowest place of the 

freehold of Little Brittaine. 

Tenth day of November Anno domini 1661 W
m
 Bretton, Temperance Bretton, Delivered and 

Signed and Sealed in the presence of W
m
 Evans, James Thompson, Luke Gardner, Robert Cole 

(Liber PCR/ 1026, April the 12
th
 1662).2 

Father Henry Warren purchased the Newtown Manor estate from William and Temperance 

Bretton six years later for 40,000 pounds of tobacco. 

Language in the chapel lot deed of title suggests that the impetus and resources for 

building the chapel came from Roman Catholic families on, and in the vicinity of, Newtown 

Neck. Robert Cole headed one of those families. His will, probated in 1662, was witnessed by 

James Thompson and it nominated Colonel William Evans and Captain Luke Gardiner as 

executors. All three men and Cole witnessed William and Temperance Brettonôs conveyance of 

the 1.5 acre chapel and cemetery lot to the church. Coleôs estate was credited 532 pounds of 

tobacco in 1664 and 57 pounds of tobacco in 1665 ñfor building the chapel (Carr, Menard, and 

Walsh 1991: Appendix 1). The estate was debited 1310 pounds of tobacco in 1670 for ña 

winding Sheet and a coffin to [read for] Betty [Cole]ò; ñby making of her graveò; by her burial in 

the Chapelò; and ñby Expenses for her funeral.ò ñBurial in the Chapelò probably refers to a 

funeral mass and not necessarily inhumation below the floor of the chapel. Parishioners 

contributed to the construction of the chapel in 1662, and the chapel appears to have remained in 

use until passage of the Intolerant Act of 1704 forced its closure. The specific location of the 

chapel was forgotten, although it was part of the parcel that the Brettons donated for the cemetery 

                                                 
2 Most spelling, orthography, and punctuation modernized for clarity. 
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and the cemetery has continued in use to the present. A historical note in the Woodstock Letters 

(33[3]: 296-297 [1904]) refers to the chapel, or ófirst churchô: ñThe first church for Newtown 

Mission was situated in the graveyard, nearly a half mile from the residence, and the foundation 

walls still remain.ò This observation of more than a century ago suggests that the chapel had a 

brick foundation and establishes a possible source for Beitzellôs claim that the chapel site is 

adjacent to the cemetery entrance. We cannot determine from this quotation where in the 

cemetery that the anonymous author saw the foundation or if the foundation was, in fact, that of 

the chapel or of some other building, such as a later dwelling or outbuilding, or the school 

reputed to have operated at Newtown. 

Annual debits to the Cole estate represent tuition and, in at least some cases, boarding for 

Robert Coleôs children, including Elizabeth, or Betty, Cole. The entries do not indicate where the 

children were schooled. Ten years before Robert Cole died, Edward Cotton bequeathed a horse 

and mare and their progeny to the Jesuit fathers (1653), ñthe profit to be made use of for the use 

of a schoolé . My desire is, if they shall think convenient, that the school shall be kept at 

Newtowneò (Woodstock Letters 61 [1932]: 16). We have found no evidence of a school having 

been built in the 1650s, although the Jesuits may have tutored students at that time. Clear 

evidence of a formal school at Newtown (although not necessarily in a building constructed for 

the purpose) dates to 1681 when, in an annual report, the following statement appears: 

Four years ago there was opened here by ours [a common Jesuit expression to refer to themselves 

and one of several means for maintaining a low profile in the face of bigotry] in primitive 

circumstances a school of humane letters, which two [Jesuit Fathers Michael Foster and Francis 

Pennington] direct and where native youth, extraordinarily devoted to study, make progress. That 

mission, that recently established school, sent two students to St. Omerôs [a prominent Catholic 

school in Belgium] and they are second to few Europeans in ability since they strive for distinction 

with the foremost of their classò (quoted in Hughes 1908: 549). 

Thomas Hothersall reputedly taught at the school from 1683 until his death in 1698, at which 

time a recently enacted law closed the school (Beitzell 1960). 

The Society of Jesus owned and operated Newtown Manor until 1967 when they 

transferred management of the cemetery and the church and manor house lots to the Archdiocese 

of Washington, DC. A detailed history, drawing on primary resources, has not been written for 

the St. Francis Xavier Church. The Special Collections division of the Georgetown University 

Library holds a number of manuscript documents, including ledgers and memoranda books, 

penned by resident Jesuits at Newtown. Censuses, newspapers, court records, and orphans court 

records also can be mined for information. And, of course, the extant buildings, archaeological 

record, and the cemetery monuments are potential sources of information. Cemetery inscriptions, 

for example, may illuminate the ebb and flow of the parishôs size and wealth. 

The distribution of dated stones (Figure 3-1) suggests a peak between 1870 and 1890, 

followed by a decline that lasted until the 1960s. Whether these variations reflect a changing 

ethnicity from immigrants or fundamental changes in the religious leanings of the population can 

be addressed through rigorous data collection and analysis of the above-cited sources. It is also 

possible that some of the fluctuations stem from the economic fortunes of parishioners, affecting 

their ability to purchase stone monuments from Baltimore and elsewhere, leaving many graves 

from some decades unmarked. 
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Figure 3-1. Gravestones per decade, 1800-2010. 
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Chapter 4. Research Design and Methods 

Research Design 

The research reported herein had two goals: document the cemetery as it existed at the 

end of 2010, and determine the location of the 1662 chapel within the current boundaries of the 

cemetery. The first goal required only mapping and compilation of a companion database with 

data on the names of the deceased and their birth and death dates. Those data, and information on 

unmarked inhumations appearing in Margaret Frescoôs compendium, Marriages and Deaths in 

St. Maryôs County, 1634-1940, appear in Appendix A. The search for the chapel involved several 

phases of invasive and geophysical survey. 

Mapping Phase 

In December 2010 Grave Concerns mapped the entire cemetery with a Sokkia SET 3110 

total station and a single reflective prism. We established an arbitrary datum (East 500, North 

500, Elevation 50 ft) with a steel spike on the east side of the drive that runs from the north end 

of the cemetery to the south end, just east of where most of the grave markers cluster. A backsite 

point was established on the small promontory in the southeastern corner of the cemetery at East 

500, North 292.97, Elevation 48.19 ft. All measurements were recorded in feet to the nearest 

one-hundredth. The rod was placed at the approximate center of the east side of each monument. 

The treeline, gravel drive, center line of Newtowne Neck Road, and a drainage ditch were also 

mapped. The cemetery being relatively flat and available resources for completing the project 

few, we did not collect elevation data for the markers or most landscape features. Nine shovel 

tests along the west side of the cemetery were excavated during this phase to test Edwin 

Beitzellôs (1960) assertion that the chapel was next to the cemetery entrance, of which there was 

only one at the time he published his book. Shovel testing methods were identical to those of the 

following phase discussed below. 

Shovel Testing Phase 

In January 2011 Grave Concerns shovel tested the entire cemetery at 50 ft intervals. Unit 

locations were roughly established with measuring tapes and then instrument mapped after 

excavation. Each unit measured approximately 1.2-ft in diameter and 1.0 ft deep. The field crew 

screened all soils through ¼-inch hardware mesh and collected artifacts by unit. Soils were 

described in terms of depths below current grade, inclusions, colors (Munsell hue, chroma, and 

value), and textures. All were backfilled immediately upon completion of recording. The data 

appear in Appendix B. The survey resulted in the identification of a late 18
th
/early 19

th
-century 

domestic site at the north end of the cemetery (18ST858) and a possible 17
th
-century site at the 

south end (18ST859). 

Geophysical Survey 

In July 2011 Grave Concerns assisted Peter C. Quantock in a geophysical survey of the 

southeastern portion of the cemetery where shovel test data suggested we might find the chapel 

site. The team established three survey grids and mapped their locations with a total station 

relative to the previously established datum points. Two grids (30 m by 20 m, or 98 ft by 66 ft) of 

magnetometer data and one grid (15 m by 15 m, or 49 ft by 49 ft) of ground-penetrating radar 

(GPR) data were collected. A G858 Magnetometer was used to collect the vertical gradient data 

using dual sensors. Data were collected every 50 cm (1.65 ft) over the entire grid using the 
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magnetometer in gradiometer mode. This mode allows us to look at the contrasts between two 

sets of data to look at any magnetic anomalies within the grid. The data were processed using the 

kriging algorithm in Surfer®. 

A GSSI SIR-3000 GPR system was used for all GPR data collection with 400 MHz 

antennas and a survey wheel for distance calibration. All reflection profiles were collected with a 

40 nanosecond time window (equal to about 2 meters depth or 6 feet in the ground).  Reflection 

traces were collected with 30 per meter along transects. Recorded amplitudes were gained 

automatically at each location where data were collected depending on the materials in the 

ground. Profiles were spaced 50cm apart for greater subsurface reflection. Data were processed 

using proprietary software. 

Test Unit Excavation 

Nine 5 ft by 5 ft units were stratigraphically excavated by Grave Concerns and a number 

of volunteers in September and October 2011. Placement was informed by the January 2011 

shovel tests which had encountered an oyster shell feature and several artifacts that appeared to 

date to the 17
th
 century in the southeastern portion of the cemetery. Units were excavated 

stratigraphically, removing a thin Ao horizon (ñtopsoilò) and exposing a number of features. Most 

of the features remained unexcavated, although several thin deposits below the Ao horizon were 

tested. A tile probe was used to determine the approximate extent of the oyster shell feature 

which was mapped. Eleven shovel tests were excavated around the oyster shell deposit in search 

of artifacts (e.g., nails, window glass, brick, daub, and tile) and deposits (e.g., burned daub or 

fire-reddened earth) that might detect a buildingôs footprint. 

We found no evidence of the site having been plowed (i.e., no plowscars were 

encountered); however, frequent grave-digging in the area has had a similar effect on the vertical 

distribution of artifacts. Consistent with the shovel testing methodology, all soils were screened 

through ¼-inch hardware mesh, the artifacts bagged by unit and stratum, the soils described as 

above, and the units backfilled. Field Specimen (FS) numbers were assigned in the field to each 

new provenience. The materials were washed and catalogued in the lab and assigned lot numbers. 

Those numbers and the site number (18ST859) appear on tags in each artifact bag. Individual 

artifacts remain unlabeled. 
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Chapter 5. Results 

Mapping 

Jim Gibb, Scott Lawrence, and Laurie Lawrence mapped the cemetery on December 29 

and 31, 2010 (Figure 5-1). Scott had previously collected data from the stones (Appendix A). A 

large format map was submitted to Fr. Sanderfoot. 

 
Figure 5-1. Map of St. Francis Xavier Cemetery gravestones. 
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Shovel Testing 

In December 2010 a series of shovel tests forming a cruciform pattern near Newtown 

Neck Road (Figure 5-2) encountered flecks of charcoal and a few flecks (shovel tests I3 and I5) 

of what appeared to be burned daub (mud plaster hardened and reddened by exposure to heat in a 

hearth). The findings were interesting but not compelling. Discarded monument and base 

fragments were found in a large pile of soil in the woods to the southeast of the cemetery, but no 

structural remains were evident. 

 
Figure 5-2. Shovel tests (2010). 

In January 2011, the field crew shovel tested the entire cemetery (Figure 5-3). Results 

were compelling. Units A10-11 and B10-11 at the north end of the cemetery recovered abundant 

brick fragments and charcoal, and single sherds of creamware, Rhenish/British Brown stoneware, 

pearlware, and a Western porcelain. The site, dating to the late 18
th
 century, has been registered 

by the Maryland Historical Trust as 18ST858 (Figure 5-4). This may be the site of brick 

foundation referred to by Beitzell (1960) and the Woodstock Letters (1904). 

Shovel tests G3. F3-5, and E5 in the southern portion of the cemetery recovered two ball 

clay pipestem fragments, a handwrought nail, and an unglazed floor tile. Unit G3 also 

encountered an oyster shell deposit. The floor tile and the one pipestem with a 7/64ths diameter 

bore (generally regarded as second half of the 17
th
 century) suggested that we found what we 

were looking for. The intact oyster shell feature indicated that at least part of the site retained its 

integrity, although shovel testing across the entire site made it clear that there were numerous 

unmarked graves and they likely damaged both sites. The site has been registered by the 

Maryland Historical Trust as 18ST859 (Figure 5-5) and it is the subject of what follows. 
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Figure 5-3. Shovel test grid (2010-2011) and archaeological sites. 
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Figure 5-4. Shovel test grid detail, 18ST858. 

 
Figure 5-5. Shovel test grid detail, 18ST859. 
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Geophysical Survey 

A one-day geophysical survey was undertaken at 18ST859 on July 8, 2011. Given the 

time constraint of completing as much survey work as possible in a single day, we focused on 

magnetometry and used the ground-penetrating radar only to investigate the intriguing 

promontory southeast of the site. The radar produced remarkably uninteresting results. The 

various anomalies in Figure 5-6 are very smallð2 ft or les in their longest dimensionsðand 

likely lie in the upper 25 cm, or 12 inches, of the soil column. The radar did not detect graves or, 

apparently, anything else of interest. 

 
Figure 5-6. Ground-penetrating radar results. 

The magnetometer produced more interesting results (Figure 5-7). Although far from 

clear, the magnetic values indicate patterned anomalies from shovel test unit G4 through F4 and 

F6, but no anomalous readings around Shovel Test G3 where the shell feature occurs. 

Stratigraphic results from Shovel Test G4, and from supplemental Shovel Tests J9 and J11 (see 

below) suggest that this area had been disturbed by mechanical grading known to have occurred 

some 20 years earlier. 

The results of the geophysical survey proved less compelling than those of the shovel 

testing; hence the latter influenced the placement of excavation units. 
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Figure 5-7. Magnetometer results. 

Excavations 

Test excavations were undertaken in the late summer of 2011. Nine units were excavated 

(Figure 5-8). They exposed 10 graveshafts beneath a thin layer (average of 0.5 ft) of very dark 

grayish brown (10YR3/2) clay loam, referred to as Stratum 1, an Ao horizon or topsoil probably 

of aeolian origin (wind-transported sediment from the surrounding cultivated fields). Some of the 

deeper clays or heavy silt loams on site were encountered by the grave diggers and mixed with 

the grave fill. Some of those clays were incorporated into Stratum 1 and appear in the unit 

profiles as thin, discontinuous lenses of yellowish brown clay (Figure 5-9). Among the 

graveshafts in all of the units except 5 and 9 are non-grave features. 

Units 3 and 4 exposed part of the oyster shell deposit first encountered in Shovel Test G3. 

Three overlapping graveshafts intrude into the deposit (Figure 5-10). Deposits of oyster shell 

commonly occur on Woodland era and historic period sites around the Chesapeake Tidewater. 

Aboriginal shell middens often contain little but shell, with few inclusions of bone, flaked stone, 

fire-cracked rock, and pottery. Historic shell middens tend to produce considerably more artifacts 

and bone. The oyster shell deposit exposed in Units 3 and 4 does not conform to expectations for 

aboriginal or colonial middens. Edges not destroyed by intrusive graveshafts are straight and 

abrupt: they do not gradually dissipate as they commonly do with oyster shell middens. The 

upper portion (~ 0.2 ft) excavated in Units 3 and 4 as Stratum 2 produced a mixture of Late 

Woodland or Contact period aboriginal and 17
th
-century European artifacts (Table 5-1). Of 

particular interest, however, are a large number of pebbles and gravels mixed with the oyster 

valves. 
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Figure 5-8. Excavation Units 1 through 9. 


